in which the site of the hut was determined; and to Brighton Beach, where the President spoke on the history of Wollongong as a port, the making of Belmore Basin, and the various visible remains of the port's former importance. From Brighton Beach the party moved to Flagstaff Hill, the Chain Baths and the site of the old fortifications near the lighthouse, returning to the Museum where afternoon tea was provided by the ladies of the Society, to whom special thanks are due for their contribution to the success of the outing.

We were particularly pleased to welcome back Mr. A. R. Grenfell (Councillor) and to see him looking so much better after his long and serious illness. All members will join in wishing him a complete and speedy restoration to health.

OLD ILLAWARRA HOUSES: "NEWTON", KEMBLA GRANGE.

This house was built in 1845 for David Williamson Irving, youngest son of John Irving, of Edinburgh, who was Writer to the Signet and a schoolboy friend of Sir Walter Scott. David was the second son to come to Australia.

John, the eldest, came first. After six years as a midshipman he left the Navy to obtain experience on a sheep run, went into partnership with David Waugh at Goulburn. He afterwards selected a run at Delegate. However, in the depression of 1842 he rejoined the Navy and was appointed to H.M.S. Favourite in Sydney. In 1845 as Lieutenant he accompanied Sir John Franklin on his expedition to find the North West Passage and the North Pole, and along with the rest of the expedition perished within the Arctic Circle. More than twenty years later the remains of the expedition were found and his body identified. In 1881 his bones were buried in Edinburgh.

David, his younger brother, on arrival in Sydney was employed as Agent to William Howe Esq., of "Glenelee", Campbelltown, and within a year he had married Jane Howe. He rented and stocked land at Terrara, on the lower Shoalhaven, from 1840-45, when he moved to Sutton Forest, but almost immediately bought land in the Illawarra area and called it Newton, after his uncle Lord Newton. On it he built the house, which still stands, and is at present owned by Dr. Maude. It came about this way. He received a letter from his father suggesting that, as John wanted to realise on his property before he sailed with Sir John Franklin, and he, John Irving the father, wished to set David up with a home and farm, Lieutenant John's property be realised on in Australia and the money used, up to £1,200, to buy a place for David while his father would pay John £1,200 before he went away.

The house, which still stains its original appearance, is built of brick, cement rendered with inside woodwork of cedar and slate roof, now replaced with tiles. The Irving family lived in the house until the 1860s. David Irving accepted an appointment as Police Magistrate at Forbes in 1862. He had no difficulty letting the farm, but selling or letting the house was not easy. His wife wrote to him at Forbes on July 26th, 1863, that the house was still not disposed of, but that she hoped to be able to send him some news in a few months time.

From this time on the house had many different people in it until the present owner, Dr. Maude, bought it in 1947. He and his wife have restored the house and, while modernising the kitchen and bathrooms, have endeavoured not to alter its character. It is indeed one of the most beautiful of our old homes in this area. — M. M. EVANS.

HISTORIC BUILDINGS — WINDSOR AND RICHMOND:

The State Planning Authority's books on historic buildings are now well-known to everyone interested in Australian history. The latest addition to the series deals with Windsor, Richmond and surrounding districts, a region probably richer than any other on the Australian mainland in tangible evidence of its early days. The text, by Miss Helen Baker (whose address on Hyde Park Barracks last year will be remembered by our members), covers both the history and the architectural features of the buildings, and is fully illustrated with photographs, line drawings and floor plans. Copies are obtainable from the Publicity and Information Office, State Planning Authority, 302 Castlereagh Street, Sydney. Price 50 cents.

ICHABOD

After almost eighty years, regular steam working on the Illawarra line ended on 20th February, when 3077 made her last run with the Mass Vale passenger train. Before her firebox was cold, a local political organisation was